







## UNITED NATIONS ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME MEDITERRANEAN ACTION PLAN

3 April 2017 English Original: English

Thirteenth Meeting of Focal Points for Specially Protected Areas

Alexandria, Egypt, 9-12 May 2017

Agenda Item 4: Progress report on activities carried out by SPA/RAC since the twelfth meeting of Focal Points for SPAs)

Guidelines to standardize methodologies to estimate demographic parameters for marine turtles populations in the Mediterranean

For environmental and economy reasons, this document is printed in a limited number and will not be distributed at the meeting. Delegates are kindly requested to bring their copies to meetings and not to request additional copies.

UNEP/MAP SPA/RAC - Tunis, 2017 Note:

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this document do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of RAC/SPA and UNEP concerning the legal status of any State, Territory, city or area, or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of their frontiers or boundaries.

© 2017 United Nations Environment Programme / Mediterranean Action Plan (UNEP/MAP) Regional Activity Centre for Specially Protected Areas (RAC/SPA) Boulevard du Leader Yasser Arafat B.P. 337 - 1080 Tunis Cedex - Tunisia E-mail: car-asp@rac-spa.org

The original version of this document was prepared for the Regional Activity Centre for Specially Protected Areas (RAC/SPA) by: Prof. Dr. Yakup KASKA ; Assoc. Prof. Dr. Eyup BAŞKALE ; Assoc. Prof. Dr. Yusuf KATILMIŞ ; Lecturer Doğan SÖZBİLEN

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

SU	MMARY	,	1
1.	SEA TURTLES OF THE MEDITERRANEAN		
	1.1.	Population Status of Mediterranean Sea Turtles and Recent Studies	2
	1.2.	Threats to the Sea Turtle Populations in the Mediterranean	3
2.	CRITERIA OF ASSESMENTS4		
	2.1.	Genetic Structure	4
		1. How Sub-Populations Can Be Identified via Genetic Studies: Regenerate Content Conte	-
	2.2.	Growth and Age at Maturity	6
	2.2.1. Growth Curves		
	2.3.	Mortality Rates	8
	2.4.	Survival Probabilities	8
	2.5.	Sex Ratio Studies	9
	2.6.	Nesting Female Parameters and Clutch Parameters	11
	2.6.	1. Reproductive Output, Development, Growth and Age at Sexual Maturity	
	2.7.	Telemetry Work on Sea Turtles	13
	2.8.	Strandings Information as Data Source	14
	2.9.	In-Water Research	15
3.	POPULATION ESTIMATION		16
	3.1.	Whole Population Abundance	17
	3.2.	Population Size of Nesting Females	17
	3.3.	Computer Program MARK to estimate the population	18
4.	INTEG 21	RATING DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION WITH ABUNDANCE ESTIMA	TES
5.	RESEA	RCH PRIORITIES	21
	5.1.	Regional Molecular Projects	22
	5.2.	Beach Monitoring Projects	22
	5.3.	Aerial Surveys and CMR Studies	22
	5.4.	Satellite Tracking Studies	22
	5.5.	A Regional Stable Isotope Project	23
	5.6.	National Stranding Networks	23
	5.7.	Regional Skeletochronology Project	23
	5.8.	Regional Bycatch Projects	23
6.	LITER	ATURE CITED	24

#### SUMMARY

Sea turtles have been living on Earth for millions of years. People are always attracted to sea turtles with their long-life spans, covering long migration distances, mysteriously appearing at nigh on sandy beaches to lay their eggs and leave quietly. People are also a threat to turtles through direct consumption of meat and eggs, and the use of their shells. Along with many other species, increasing human activities is threatening sea turtles over the past two centuries. Today, all sea turtle species are listed as endangared or threatened and are protected by various legislations in their habitats. The main threats to sea turtles in the Mediterranean, as well as the rest of the world, can be summarized as; degradation of the nesting, feeding and wintering habitats; incidental capture in fisheries; intentional killing; eggs exploitation, collusion with marine vehicles and pollution.

Monitoring an endangered species population (such as sea turtles) for conservation measures is a necessary step to achieve the conservation goals. However, theses species' biological characteristics (such as migrating between breeding and foraging grounds, spending different life stages in different marine habitats) would make it difficult to monitor them. Population status and and trends should be precisely assessed for effective conservation. Apart from these, the study of demography provides a mathematical description of how such population parameters change over time. Particularly size and density of a population, age structure, fecundity, mortality and sex ratio.

There are a few population modelling studies on sea turtles in the Mediterranean which used limited demographic parameters. In contrast to the general belief, Mazaris et al. (2005) explained the effect of various reproductive patterns, they suggested that adult females' fecundity and survival rate of early juveniles are highly important to population dynamics of loggerhead turtle in the Mediterranean. Mazaris et al. (2009) also suggested a greater importance of Hatching and Hatchling Emergence Success over the Nesting Success for the overall hatchling production. Casale and Heppell (2016) derived a theoretical demographic structure of the Mediterranean population, assuming a stationary age distribution, and provided a likely order of magnitude of population abundance as whole and in different life stages. Casale and Heppell (2016) investigated the sea turtle bycatch effect on the population by a Stationary Age Distribution model for simulating population abundance range to be 0.81–3.38 million loggerheads (the mean number of adults 15,843), and 0.26–2.21 million green turtles (the mean number of adults 3,390) in the Mediterranean.

The aim of this document is to a). Summarise the information about population status and b) To guide the Mediterranean countries to implement the Protocol concerning Specially Protected Areas and Biological Diversity in the Mediterranean with its related regional action plans and c). Provide the needed tools for those procedures.

This document describes the standardized methodologies to estimate demographic parameters for population dynamic analysis, such as population modeling. This document also contains the guidelines on; species distribution range, population abundance and population demographic parameters.

#### SEA TURTLES OF THE MEDITERRANEAN

#### 1.1. Population Status of Mediterranean Sea Turtles and Recent Studies

The leatherback turtle (*Dermochelys coriacea*), green turtle (*Chelonia mydas*), and loggerhead turtle (*Caretta caretta*) are regularly encountered in the Mediterranean (Groombridge 1990, Casale & Margaritoulis 2010). Loggerhead and green turtles are recognized as regional management units (Wallace et al. 2011) while leatherback turtles considered as a visitor species from the Atlantic and breeding is not reported yet (Casale et al. 2003). Two other species (*Eretmochelys imbricata*, Hawksbill sea turtle *Lepidochelys kempii*, Kemp's ridley sea turtle ) are very rarely encountered within the basin while only one record of Olive Ridley turtle (*Lepidochelys olivacae*) reported recently (Revuelta et al., 2015). In this report, only data on loggerhead turtle and green turtle are presented.

The most abundant sea turtle species in the Mediterranean is the loggerhead turtle. Main breeding areas are listed as Greece, Turkey, Cyprus, and Libya (Casale & Margaritoulis 2010). Loggerhead turtle is mainly encountered in the oceanic zones of the western Mediterranean basin, the Strait of Sicily, and the Ionian Sea. Being a migratory species, the loggerhead turtle uses different areas for foraging. Main foraging areas in the western basin are used by both the Mediterranean and the Atlantic loggerhead populations (Carreras et al. 2011). Neritic zones are also frequently used as foraging areas by loggerhead turtle such as the Adriatic, Tunisia, Libya, Egypt, and the southern coasts of Turkey (Casale & Margaritoulis 2010). Green turtles mainly use neritic areas in the eastern Mediterranean basin and nest on beaches in Turkey, Cyprus, and Syria (Casale & Margaritoulis 2010)... Considering the methodology, It is necessary to choose a suitable sampling method (i.e., aerial surveys, nesting and stranding monitorings, diving/snorkeling transects and capturemark- recapture studies, satellite tracking, fisheries bycatch data...etc) that allow adequate knowledge of the distribution range of each species. Such sampling involves high effort for areas that have not been fully surveyed vet. Monitoring effort should be long termed and should cover all seasons to ensure that the information obtained is sufficient. With these techniques used, a gridded map of 10 x 10 km cells showing presence/absence of;breeding,wintering or feeding/developmental areas would be a good indicator. This method will be applied along the entire basin or in subregions and in all pelagic marine areas. The quality of the range calculation could consist of a scaling system, combining the reliability of the distribution at the time it was mapped, how recently it was mapped, and the method used to map it. The results would be classified in three categories: 3 = reliable (accurate to within 10%); 2 = incomplete (accurate to within 50%); or 1 = poor (definitely not accurate to within 50%) and should be presented in the same style by the partner countries.

#### **1.2.** Threats to the Sea Turtle Populations in the Mediterranean

There are two breeding sea turtle species in the Mediterranean, loggerhead turtles and green turtles. both species are affected by several anthropogenic threats, such as degradation of nesting habitats, incidental catch in fisheries, collision with marine vehicles, and intentional killing (Tomás et al. 2008, Aureggi & Khalil, 2010, Demetropoulos & Hadjichristophorou 2010, Casale & Margaritoulis 2010, Casale et al. 2010, Casale 2011, Domènech et al. 2014). Incidental catch of sea turtles in fishing gears is considered the main threat for the Mediterranean Sea turtles (Casale, 2011). There are several methods to estimate the number of deaths using fisheries bycatch data but unless the total number of turtles in the population is known, the decrease in overall survival probability will be difficult to estimate. Annually, 44.000 sea turtle deaths were estimated in 132.000 bycatch in the Mediterranean (Casale, 2011). These numbers seem to be very high but the effects on a population is unpredictable without having a population size estimate.

We do not have enough information on the turtle populations in the Mediterranean including different sexes and age classes. Broderick et al. (2002) estimated that 2280 to 2787 loggerhead females and 339 to 360 green turtle females are nesting in the Mediterranean. There is insufficient information on males to date. Based on the available data from monitored beaches in the Mediterranean, the total number of nests was estimated at 7250 and 1600 for loggerhead and green turtles, respectively (Casale & Margaritoulis, 2010). These numbers are considered to be a very small proportion of the total populations (Heppel et al. 2002). It is clear that understanding the actual effects of fisheries on sea turtle populations size. In addition, the previous results were only based on bycatch data. Therefore, it is expected that the mortality rates will increase when the other factors are taken into account (Casale et al. 2015), and as a whole, will represent a high level of threat for both species (Wallace et al. 2011). Therefore, more studies on population structure of sea turtle populations are needed in the future.

#### 2. CRITERIA OF ASSESMENTS

To assess a population status of a species, various variables are required to do so such as lifespan, sex-ratio, distrubition, habitat preferences, growth rates, age at maturity, fecundity and survival rate. Conversely, such parameters are very difficult to obtain for a long-lived and migratory species. Although sea turtles have been well researched for years, there is still a gap in estimating sea turtles populations. Sea turtles are spending almost all their life in the sea. However, despite knowing almost all their activities on nesting beaches, there is a great lack of information in their activity in sea habitats. For instance, neonate sea turtles do not reappear until they have grown to juveniles and their life history for this period is unkown for most areas in the world. This period is known as the lost years. Simultaneously, there is also a lack of information about adult turtles' life-cycle in marine habitats, for instance foraging areas, migratory corridors, Therefore, we can obtain more precised and integrated approach by gathering different demographic parameters instead of focusing only on one parameter in population estimation. Demographic parameters, such as clutch frequency, interannual nesting intervals, and growth rates show variation among species and different populations of the same species. In addition, genetic structure and individual behavior may vary among individuals in the same nesting population. Therefore, to get an accurate estimate of the available data, it is necessary to take into account individual differences, and to work with large data sets.

Within this scope, areas of priority for research are presented. This is along with the assumptions for how to obtain high accuracy inferences by using methods in population estimation. Therefore, the aim of this manuscript is to bring together and synthesized methods that are frequently used around the world and in the Mediterranean countries.

#### 2.1. Genetic Structure

Current knowledge on genetic structure of loggerhead turtle in the Mediterranean is based on published studies from Calabria, Crete, Cyprus, Libya, Western Greece and Turkey. Results of these studies suggest the existence of six distinct nesting populations of loggerhead turtle (Kaska, 2000, Saied et al. 2012; Yilmaz et al. 2012; Clusa et al. 2013; LaCasella et al. 2013). Loggerhead turtles nesting in Egypt have not been documented yet, while the loggerhead turtle population nesting in Tunisia is not genetically distinct from other Mediterranean populations (Chaieb et al. 2010).

As adults, maternal philopatry to breeding areas has created several reproductive clades across the eastern Mediterranean as suggested through mtDNA analysis (Carreras et al. 2007; Clusa et al. 2013; Garofalo et al. 2009; Saied et al. 2012; Yilmaz et al. 2011), but some male mediated gene flow may reduce the overall depth of reproductive isolation (Carreras et al.

2007; Yilmaz et al. 2011). Furthermore, it has been recently proposed that the genetic structuring found in the Mediterranean could be also driven by regional and thermal adaptation (Novelletto et al. 2016) or water circulation (Carreras et. al., 2006). Despite this marked genetic structuring at the nesting beaches, individuals hatched at different sites have high mobility within the Mediterranean and mostly share foraging grounds. The neritic area of North Africa is an important foraging habitat even for distant breeding grounds, it is used by adult turtles from Greece (Margaritoulis et al. 2003; Schofield et al. 2013; Zbinden et al. 2011), Cyprus (Broderick et al. 2007; Snape et al. 2016) and Libya (Casale et al. 2013) with no published data for loggerhead turtles nesting in Turkey. The Adriatic Sea is also an important foraging/overwintering area for turtles that breed in Greece (Margaritoulis et al. 2003; Zbinden et al. 2011; Schofield et al. 2013; Giovannotti et al. 2010) with lower numbers of that group foraging elsewhere around the Mediterranean (the Aegean Sea, the Levant coast and Cyprus) (Margaritoulis et al. 2003; Margaritoulis and Rees, 2011; Snape et al. 2016). AS for the Mediterranean green turtle, several studies have highlighted the lack of resolution in the mitochondrial DNA markers due to the over dominant presence of a single haplotype. Consequently, this leads to a failure in detecting the structuring expected for this philopatric species (Kaska 2000; Bagda et al. 2012; Naro-Maciel et al. 2014). Coupled with possible male-mediated gene flow between reproductive populations (Wright et al. 2012b), this may leads to a failure in detecting the structuring expected for this philopatric species. Tikochinski et al. (2012) stated that although traditional mitochondrial markers have revealed no major genetic structuring of green turtles in the Mediterranean, more polymorphic may reveal some structure in the future, especially with the fast technological development of this method. In fact, a more recent regional study has shown a clear structuring among the north-eastern Mediterranean populations that contradicts the worldwide mitochondrial markers assessment. This was done through using a larger set of markers (Bagda et al. 2012), thus indicating that a deep structuring may exist in the region.

Recently, and using genetic analyses, Sari et al. (2017) studied the multiple paternity (MP) on Dalyan beach, Turkey. They collected tissue samples (from 522 hatchlings) from two to three successive clutches (a total of 25 clutches) of ten nesting females. Evidence of MP in seven out of 10 females (70%) was found, and it was detected that four out of these seven females mated with at least two males, whereas the remaining three females mated with at least three males. They explained the high frequency of MP as a result of high genetic diversity within the population, or because most of the mating took place in a narrow area in Dalyan. Similar studies are needed in other index sites in order to have an estimate on the male population in the Mediterranean Sea.

In conclusion, the detailed knowledge of population structuring of the green turtle in the Mediterranean is still incomplete due to the lack of resolution in most of the nuclear and mitochondrial genetic markers used, but also due to an incomplete analysis of all known nesting areas.

# 2.1.1. How Sub-Populations Can Be Identified via Genetic Studies: Regional Management Units

In the Mediterranean Sea, there are three independent Regional Management Units (RMUs) for loggerhead turtles (Wallace et al. 2010): the Mediterranean, the North West Atlantic and the North East Atlantic (Monzon-Arguello et al. 2010, Wallace et al. 2010) of which, by definition, only individuals from the Mediterranean RMU are supposed to breed in the region. The Mediterranean Sea hosts an independent loggerhead turtle RMU but is also visited by individuals from two Atlantic RMUs (Wallace et al. 2010), with individuals from the Atlantic occurring in the western Mediterranean basin mostly (Clusa et al. 2014). Nesting populations are well structured, due to the female philopatry, and seven independent Management Units (MUs) have been identified within regions using mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) markers (Shamblin et al. 2014) as following: (a) Calabria, Italy, (b) western Greece (Zakynthos + Kyparissia + Lakonikos), (c) Rethymno (Crete, Greece), (d) Dalyan + Dalaman (Turkey), (e) western Turkey (Fethiye to Çirali), (f) eastern Mediterranean (middle + eastern Turkey + Lebanon + Israel + Cyprus), (g) Libya + Tunisia. Mediterranean loggerhead turtles are considered to form an isolated meta-population (Carreras et al. 2011; Clusa et al. 2013) with most nesting occurring in Greece, Turkey, Cyprus and Libya (Casale and Margaritoulis 2010). The life-history for this metapopulation has been presented in the literature as following; hatchlings enter oceanographic currents in which they disperse to varied locations away from the breeding area (Hays et al. 2010a; Casale and Mariani 2014), as the turtles increase in size they are capable of more directed movements and may undertake long migrations through oceanic and neritic waters (Bentivegna 2002; Casale et al. 2007a; Hochscheid et al. 2010; Casale et al. 2012a, 2012b). During this period, foraging is switched protractedly from pelagic to benthic (Laurent et al. 1998; Casale et al. 2008). In general, they complete maturation in locations closer to their natal origin rather than being complete by random dispersal (Laurent et al. 1998, Maffucci et al. 2006, Garofalo et al. 2013).

#### 2.2. Growth and Age at Maturity

Growth rates and age at maturity are important parameters in age-based population modelling. However, the lack of information on age-specific rates in sea turtles, especially in a distinct population, is an obstacle for age-based population models.

Sea turtle carapace length is an important parameter to understand their lifecycle. Carapace length is used to classify age classes and more importantly estimate the age at maturity. As a longliving species, age at maturity and longevity are an important parameter for demographic and population structuring studies. Sampling of nesting females on nesting beaches is an easy method to assess the range of adult female carapace length. However, this method gives limited data for assessing the whole population structure because it does not provide information about males, sub-adults and juveniles. Direct sampling of other age classes and males in foraging and breeding areas by various capture–mark–recapture methods (CMR) at-sea is applicable but time consuming and needs laboring. Conversely, hundreds of

dead or alive specimens are stranded in the Mediterranean coasts. Stranded animals are an important data source for demography studies as well as for molecular studies, stable isotope analysis and skeletochronology analysis.

Skeletochronology is an excellent tool in evaluating pattern of population age structure in wild animals, it allows us to study life history strategies of species in a more reliable way especially more than categorization. When available, age dependent estimations can be obtained for parameters such as survival, mortality, growth and reproductive traits (i.e. age of sexual maturity and fecundity) (Cardona et al. 2015). Moreover, skeletochronology provides the historical information that might be utilized in charting the rise and decline of reptilian populations in relation to climate change and the impact of human activities. Skeletochronology relies on the analysis of the Lines of Arrested Growth (LAGs) in bones, and is a rapid and reliable chronological tool already successfully used in many reptilian species.

Previous studies showed that sea turtles have slow growth and late sexual maturity (Avens & Snover 2013, Scott et al. 2012). The relationship between age and carapace length of sea turtles can be addressed through capture-tagging-recapture studies or through skeletocrhonology.

Validation of skeletocrhonology methods can be done via a known age of turtle (Snover & Hohn 2004), the use of Lines of Arrested Growth (LAGs) labelling via injection of fluorescent tetracycline intrabone marker (Klinger & Musick, 1992; Coles et al., 2001) and comparing results of skeletochronology and mark-recapture records can also be used together (Van Houtan et al., 2014).

The Humerus bone (the longest digit from the phalanxes usually fixed in 70% ethanol) has been used for skeletochronological studies in sea turtles. During histological studies, tissue prossessing are followed validated methods for sea turtles (Casale et al. 2011a, 2011b; Limpus 1990; Piovano et al. 2011).

Age at Sexual Maturity (ASM) has been estimated through growth models, it as ranging between 14.9-18.6 years for small nesters of 66 cm CCL (Curved Carapace Length) and 26.3-34.9 years for larger reproductive females of 84.7 cm CCL. However, the mean size of female loggerhead turtles nesting in the Mediterranean is 79.5 cm CCL and males appear to reach maturity at a similar size (Casale et al. 2005, Casale et al. 2014). The average ASM for the Mediterranean loggerhead population was estimated at 25 years (range: 21-34 years). This estimate was extracted from the mean values of eight age-at-length relationships obtained by the above studies and applied to a size at maturity of 80 cm CCL (Casale & Heppell 2016).

#### 2.2.1. Growth Curves

Information on the growth rates based upon different methodological approaches became available only in recent years. Mediterranean loggerheads appear to reach 28 cm CCL when 3.5 years old. their growth rate ranges from 11.8 cm year<sup>-1</sup> in the first months of life to 3.6 cm year<sup>-1</sup> at the age of 2.5-3.5 years, similar to the Atlantic turtles (Casale et al. 2009a).

Different foraging grounds appear to affect carapace length and clutch size (Zbinden et al. 2011, Patel et al. 2015) and this suggests an effect of food availability on growth. The growth rates will not just depend upon the environmental conditions and the time of recruitment of different habitats, but are also influenced by the origin of the individuals (Piovano et al. 2011). Mature females nesting in the Mediterranean are not only smaller than their equivalent from the western North Atlantic, but they may also be younger (Piovano et al. 2011). Within the Mediterranean, substantial differences exist in terms of clutch size, with the smallest females and clutch sizes observed in Cyprus and the largest females and clutch sizes observed in Greece.

#### 2.3. Mortality Rates

Annually, over 132 000 captures per year, with probably over 44 000 incidental deaths per year in the Mediterranean (Casale, 2011), more than 39,000 turtles are captured by bottom trawlers, more than 13,000 turtles by demersal longlines, and over 23,000 turtles by gillnets (Casale, 2011). Stranded turtles are used to estimate the number of deaths and it is considered that mortality rates are higher than estimated. This is mainly due to the fact that the number of stranded turtles represents small proportion of the total deaths (Epperly et al., 1996; Hart et al. 2006).

It is not surprising that there are many different types of surveys that can be used to address mortality rates. However, it urgently needs updated estimates that take in consideration a sub-basin approach. This approach should be derived from common survey methods with onboard observers and questionnaire based surveys (Carreras et al. 2004; Álvarez de Quevedo et al. 2010).

Casale and Heppell (2016) derived a theoretical demographic structure of the Mediterranean population, assuming a constant age distribution, and provided a likely order of magnitude of population abundance as a whole and in different life stages. Population abundance range was estimated as 0.81–3.38 million loggerheads and 0.26–2.21 million green turtles in the Mediterranean in the same study as previously addressed in this report.

#### 2.4. Survival Probabilities

So far, two studies have investigated survival probabilities of Mediterranean loggerhead turtles. Annual survival probability based upon capture-mark-recapture data of loggerheads of 25-88 cm CCL was estimated at 0.73 and was considered as an underestimate by at least 0.1 because of tag loss (Casale et al. 2007b). Annual survival probabilities of large juveniles at four different foraging areas were estimated through a Catch Curve analysis, resulting in values ranging 0.71-0.86 depending on the area (Casale et al. 2015). These values were considered to be lower than expected from a healthy population and possibly due to anthropogenic mortality like bycatch, especially in some areas like the south Adriatic (Casale et al. 2015).

#### 2.5. Sex Ratio Studies

The mean of sex ratio is the ratio between the number of males and females within a population and across all age (size) classes. It plays a major role of the target species life stateges, and may help researchers predict population growth or decline and population status of the global decline or extinctions. Especially, knowing the sex ratio in species, which sex depends on environmental factors, is very important for the conservation and protection of the species. These can be done in several ways:

- Sex identification of adults in census and transects (juveniles and sub-adults) requires other techniques such as laparoscopy, blood analysis, genetic analysis.
- Sexing of stranded specimens (size, blood or genetic analysis, laparoscopy).
- Sexing of tagged (capture and recapture) (size, blood or genetic analysis, laparoscopy).
- Sexing of offsprings before leaving the nest, and at different growth stages until maturity (blood or genetic analysis).

For Mediterranean loggerhead turtle, The pivotal temperature (egg incubation temperature at which both sexes are produced at equal numbers) is about 29-29.3°C under laboratory conditions, and the pivotal incubation period (at which both sexes are produced at equal numbers) is 53 days (Kaska et al. 1998; Mrosovsky et al. 2002). It is similar to other populations around the world. Other studies at natural conditions (Fuller et al. 2013) found the pivotal temperatures to be lower (28.9°C) and the incubation duration to be longer as expected (56.3 days) due to the effect of metabolic heating generated by the whole nest.

By applying different indirect sex determination methods, loggerhead hatchling production at most Mediterranean beaches was suggested to be highly female-biased, with the major rookeries in Greece, Turkey, Libya and Cyprus producing 60-99% females (Casale et al. 1998, 2000, Erzin et al. 2006, Kaska et al. 2006 Godley et al. 2001a, Katselidis et al. 2012, Jiribi et al. 2013, Kılıç & Candan, 2014). Interestingly, gonadal histology as a direct sexing method showed less skewed loggerhead hatchling sex ratios (55.6-79% females) although the method is possibly biased by the field sampling protocols and it is only applied in limited number of cases. Male-biased hatchling production might be possible in some years at least in few sites (e.g. Zakynthos and Lakonikos Bay in Greece; Dalyan, Kizilot and Patara in Turkey) (Godley et al. 2001; Kaska et al. 2006), while a small loggerhead nesting aggregation on the Kuriat Island in Tunisia seems to have dominant male production (Jribi & Bradai 2014).

Spatio-temporal variations of sex ratios were also reported (Kaska et al. 2006, Fuller et al. 2013; Yalcin-Ozdilek et. al., 2016; Uçar et al., 2012), with more male hatchlings being produced from the nests laid at the beginning of nesting season (nests laid in May) and the end of nesting season (nests laid in August), than from those laid in the middle of nesting season (June-July). The eggs at the top of a nest are also producing relatively more females than those at the bottom of a nest (Kaska et al. 1998). The location of a nest on the open beach and close to the vegetation is also another factor affecting the sex ratio of hatchlings

produced. The beach sand color (albedo), sand grain size, shading of vegetation etc seems important factors in determining the hatchling sex ratios as well (e.g., Kaska et al. 1998, Zbinden et al. 2007, Fuller et al. 2013).

Surprisingly, and opposite to the predominant female-biased hatchling production, the sex ratios of juvenile loggerhead turtles in most Mediterranean marine habitats showed no departure from 1:1 ratio, with the proportion of females between 52 and 56%. Initially, a discrepancy between strong-female biased hatchling production (and even sex ratios) in juvenile loggerheads was explained by a strong male-biased immigration of Atlantic juveniles to the Mediterranean Sea (Casale et al. 2002, Casale et al. 2006). However, equal sex ratios are found in the north-central Adriatic Sea, an area with no Atlantic contributors (Lazar et al. 2008, Garofalo et al. 2013, Maffucci et al. 2013). However, strong female-bias (2:1) in juvenile assemblages from the Atlantic Ocean (Wibbels 2003, Delgado et al. 2010) provided little support to this hypothesis. Overall, female bias in juvenile sex ratio (1.56:1) was recorded in the long-term study in the Tyrrhenian Sea, although in some years this ratio showed little diversion from 1:1 ratio (Maffucci et al. 2013). As juvenile populations represent a condensation of different cohorts with different sex ratios, originating from different source populations, there are several plausible and probably interconnected explanations for such sex ratio dynamics in the Mediterranean. For example, generally speaking, a female bias in hatchling production may be greatly overestimated (Delgado et al. 2010), as TSD mechanism remains unclear (Wibbels 2003), and hatchling production in the Mediterranean may exhibit significant intra- and inter-annual variations in sex ratios (Godley et al. 2001b). Contribution of different source populations to the juvenile population in marine habitats may also change between years, as well as sex-specific death rates, behaviour and spatial distribution (Maffucci et al. 2013). At present, it seems that the sex ratio of juvenile loggerheads in the Mediterranean could be female biased, although to a lesser extent than the Atlantic stock. However, long-term assessments in other marine areas are needed to mitigate the effect on inter-annual variability and to get an estimate of the actual sex ratios in the juvenile populations (Maffucci et al. 2013).

Adult sex ratios at different loggerhead's foraging grounds range from female to male biased (Chaloupka & Limpus C 2005). Although sex determination in adults is possible by external sexual characteristics (long tail of around 20 cm for male adults), their low abundance makes such studies challenging. Moreover, sex-specific behaviour and breeding periodicity may affect the results of such studies. Male-bias in the Amvrakikos Gulf is present between May and September (Rees et al. 2013), and in the central Mediterranean during the period from June to September (Casale et al. 2014). This can be explained by fewer females present at foraging grounds during the reproductive season. Inversion of the sex ratios from female-biased in juveniles to male-biased in adults in the Tyrrhenian Sea is intriguing and deserves further investigation (Casale et al. 2014). Operational sex ratio was estimated just in the Laganas Bay (Zahynthos, Greece) and has suggested an even sex ratio (Hays et al. 2010b).

Primary sex ratios of green turtles tend to be female-biased (70-96% females). Currently, no information is available for juvenile and adult sex ratios of green turtles at foraging areas. An operational sex ratio of 1.4M:1F is estimated from genotyping of hatchlings from Cyprus (Wright et al. 2012b).

#### 2.6. Nesting Female Parameters and Clutch Parameters

The number of individuals within a population (population size) is usually defined as the number of individuals present in an animal aggregation (permanent or transient) in a subjectively designated geographical range. The index of population abundance is a single species indicator that reflects the temporal variation in the breeding or the non-breeding (wintering/feeding/developmental) populations of a target species compared to a base year or referenced level.

There are various methods to estimate the population size. One of the most common, and simplest, estimation methods is calculation of nesting females. The information on sea turtle populations in the Mediterranean is mainly based on nesting females, eggs, and bycatch data. Also, sea turtles demonstrate natal homing and occasionally nest on more than one nesting beach (Bowen et al. 2004). This allows us to easily estimate the population size of a specific nesting female population. In order to estimate the population size of nesting females in a particular area, each nesting female should be captured and tagged by the same methodology at each occasion. These occasions repeated throughout a nesting season and each successive nesting year. This method is then repeated with constant labor force and sampling period for each season. In addition to this method, the number of nests and tracks are counted to estimate the nesting population. Subsequently, collected data are pooled for each nesting beach, average number of nests and nesting density per kilometer are estimated with mathematical models or population estimation software such as MARK (White & Burnham 1999, Cooch & White 2016).

Beach monitoring studies are conducted mainly through beach patrols to detect sea turtle tracks on the nesting beaches in the Mediterranean (Kaska, 1993, Kasparek et al. 2001; Tomas et al., 2002; Bentivegna et. al., 2011; Bradai and Jiribi, 2010; Broderick & Godley, 1996; Broderick et. al., 2000, 2003; Cambell et al., 2001; Cardona et al., 2009; Carreras and Tomas, 2010; Casale et al., 2007a; Margaritoulis, 1988, 1998; Yalcin-Ozdilek & Yerli, 2006; Kaska et al. 2010; Durmuş et al. 2011; Ergene et al. 2013; Yılmaz et al., 2015; Cardona et al., 2015 [Demography Working Group of the Conference, 2015)). Aerial surveys are also started to be conducted using drones for monitoring beaches in distinct nesting areas in recent years (McClellan 1996, Cardona et. al. 2005, Lauriano et. al. 2011, Bevan et al. 2016). Most of the major nesting beaches in the Mediterranean have been monitored more than 25 years continuously, while some others have been monitored discontinuesly. Although individual nesting beaches might be showing an increase or decrease in nesting, it is still not possible to put a general trend for the entire Mediterranean basin (Ilgaz et al. 2007, Türkozan & Yilmaz 2008, Casale & Margaritoulis 2010, Margaritoulis et al. 2011). Sea turtles are long-lived animals and it takes decades to mature. Nest counts are not a reliable indicator to estimate a whole population because juveniles compose the largest part of the population and nest counts give only information about adults. (Heppell et al. 2003, 1996, 2002, National Research Council 2010). It requires monitoring a particular population for years to assess the

population trend. For instance, no significant trend was observed in the annual nest numbers at the Dalyan Beach, Turkey but a dramatic increase in the annual nest numbers was observed in recent years (Kaska et. al., 2015). In addition, assessing the trends based on the number of nests can be misleading as various environmental factors can affect the frequency of reproduction and eventually the annual nest numbers (Hays 2000, Solow et al. 2002, Mazaris et al. 2004; Olgun et. al., 2016; Öz et al., 2004; Özdemir et. al., 2008, 2011; Rees & Margaritolius 2004; Sönmez et. al., 2013; Taşkın & Baran, 2001; Türkozan, 2000; Türkozan & Kaska, 2010).

The incubation period is negatively correlated with the temperature of the nests (Kaska et al. 2006). For example, nest temperatures as low as 27.2 °C with an incubation duration up to 66 days have been recorded in Dalyan- Turkey (Kaska et al. 1998), while nest temperatures as high as 31.9°C and with an incubation duration as low as 47 days have been observed on Göksu, Turkey (Sari & Kaska 2015).

The mean clutch size for green turtles among different Mediterranean sites is 84 eggs (Cardona et al., 2015). The number of clutches per season ranged between 1.9–3.5 clutches per season for green turtles in Alagadi, Cyprus (Broderick et al. 2002). The available information indicates recruitment at sea (hatchlings at sea per egg) of 0.58-0.85 (Turkozan et al. 2011). The nest temperatures ranged from 28.3 °C with an incubation period of 59 days (Candan & Kolankaya 2016) to 32.2 °C with an incubation period of 50 days in Cyprus (Kaska et al. 1998).

#### 2.6.1. Reproductive Output, Development, Growth and Age at Sexual Maturity

Individuals could be sorted into age-specific categories called cohorts or age/stage classes (such as "juveniles" or "sub-adults"). Then, a profile of the abundance and different age classes can be created for each. The demographic structure may provide an estimate of the annual survival probability and/or reproductive potential of that population, which is critical information along with other parameters, from which current and future growth may be estimated. These categories can be obtained as following:

- Age class identification in censuses and transects (based on size class estimates).
- Aging of stranded specimens (skeletochronology and/or age-size correlation sea turtles).
- Aging of beached specimens (skeletochronology and/or age-size correlation sea turtles).
- Aging of tagged (during capture and recapture) specimens: size correlation for sea turtles.

Nesting beaches and the number of nests in each were summarized by Casale and Margaritoulis (2010). Great variation in clutch size may exists within a single rookery and has been attributed to a different migration and foraging behaviour of the nesting females (Zbinden et al. 2011, Cardona et al. 2014). The number of clutches per season ranged between

1.2–4.6 clutches per season for loggerheads in Alagadi, Cyprus (Broderick et al. 2002). It has also shown that clutch size increased with body length in the Mediterranean (Broderick et.al., 2003). Cureved carapace length (CCL) and curved carapace width (CCW) are used for identifying body size. The mean CCL ranged between 66.5-84.7 cm and CCW from 50-88 cm (range = 50-88).Mean clutch sizes ranged from 65-130.4 (range = 6-211) in the Mediterranean. Morphometric measurements and clutch sizes (CS) are well known for all the major nesting sites in the Mediterranean except Libya (Cardona et al., 2015).

Another characteristic is inter (Re)-Nesting Intervals (RNI) which means the time between two successive nests. RNI estimations are well reported for Turkey, Greece and Cyprus, the mean RNI ranges from 12.7 to 19.9 (referenced in Cardona et al., 2015).

Sea turtles are migratory species and they migrate between foraging and breeding grounds. Migration and reproduction consume a substantial amount of energy. Therefore, female turtles are not able to nest every year and they skip at least one nesting season. The time between two successive nesting seasons is named Re-Migration Intervals (RMI). RMI is estimated approximately 2 years for Greece and Cyprus and 3.35 years for Turkey. A female turtle deposits more than one clutch per nesting season which is called clutch frequency (CF). The mean clutch frequency ranges from 1.2-2.2 clutches per season for Greece, Turkey and N. Cyprus.

The available information available indicates recruitment at sea (hatchlings at sea per egg) of 0.58-0.67 (Turkozan et al. 2003, Margaritoulis 2005, Turkozan & Yilmaz 2008).

#### 2.7. Telemetry Work on Sea Turtles

Identifying the foraging areas and migratory corridors of adult turtles has a considerable importance for the conservation of sea turtles (Patel, 2013; Jeffers & Godley 2016). Most common methodology for identifying the foraging areas and migratory corridors is satellite telemetry of adult turtles. Capture, Mark and Recapture studies and combination of different methods have been used recently by Rees et al (2017).,they used flipper tagging, satellite tracking and genetics to identify the origin of loggerhead turtles living in Amvrakikos Gulf, Greece. Satellite telemetry is also used to assess the surfacing time for turtles. The data delivered from satellite telemetry is critical for aerial surveys to derive absolute population estimates (Coyne & Godley 2005).

Tracking data for loggerhead and green turtles were published in various studies in the Mediterranean (Godley et al. 2002; Luschi et al. 2013). Luschi and Casale (2014) reviewed both published and unpublished tracking studies for both species. Loggerhead turtles were tracked from Cephalonia (Hays et al. 1991), Crete (Margaritoulis & Rees 2011; Patel et al. 2015), and Zakynthos (Zbinden et al. 2011; Schofield et al. 2013). Cardona et al (2015) also reported unpublished tracking data for a total of 92 loggerhead turtles, of which 55 were juveniles and 37 were adult sized. Stokes et. al 2015, also published green turtle tracking data from Levantine basin, two nesting female green turtles were also tracked from Akyatan, Turkey (Turkecan & Yerli 2011). In Cyprus, only tracked male green turtle was reported from Cyprus (Wright et al 2012a).

Cardona et. al., 2015 reported all turtles' tracking information from the published data for the Mediterranean. In this report, a total of 112 females and 34 male loggerhead turtles were tracked from Cyprus, Greece, Italy, Israel, Libya and Turkey. Also, 37 females and 1 male green turtle were tracked from Cyprus, Israel, Syria and Turkey. In addition to these numbers, 20 loggerhead turles were tracked from Crete in another study (Patel et. al., 2015).

A reasonable number of loggerhead turtles were tracked in the Mediterranean up to date. However, available tracking data is concentrated in some major nesting areas. Further studies are required from other major nesting areas, sepecially from Turkey. Moreover, our knowledge on males and juveniles is limited and further studies should be prioritized to them. Available green turtle tracking data is limited in comparission with loggerhead tracking data in the Mediterranean. The main green turtle nesting areas in the Mediterranean are in Turkey but very few data is available on that subject. The green turtle individuals tracked in the Mediterranean were; two from Akyatan; one from Samandağ and eight from Yumurtalık. None were tracked from Kazanlı. Also, Syria might have important nesting sites so we recommend conducting some further studies there.

Tracking rehabilitated animals was questioned in previous studies whether they behave naturally or not after being released to the sea (Cardona et al., 2012). Nevertheless, tracking injured animals after treatment at rescue and rehabilitation centres is important to understand their behavior and identifying the foraging areas and migratory corridors of turtles.

Sea turtles can also be tracked with the use of temperature-depth data loggers, radio transmitters, and satellite transmitters in their foraging and nesting areas (Backof, 2013). Extracted information would provide insight and understanding habitat use in different habitats.

#### 2.8. Strandings Information as Data Source

Usefulness of the stranding data is mentioned above in this report. Rescue and first aid centres are collecting data on stranded sea turtles. Ulmann and Stachowitsch (2015), listed available rescue and rehabilitation centres in the Mediterranean. There are 34 confirmed sea turtle rescue centres, 8 first aid stations and 7 informal rescue centres in the Mediterranean. On one hand, stranded animals are a cost-effective method to collect data and are used for identifying foraging areas, assessing the impact of anthropogenic activities on sea turtles, diseases, estimating growth rates and a good source for tissue sampling. On the other hand, there is no common database or networking among the rescue centres and first aid stations in the Mediterranean. A networking and common database for strandings are thought to provide valuable information about sea turtle populations and the biological traits in the Mediterranean. Sea turtles are a good indicator species to provide information about Good Environmental Status of marine areas and stranding data is a very good tool for that. Therefore, establishing regional stranding network and common database should be considered in the future.

#### 2.9. In-Water Research

As mentioned above, it is necessary to obtain adequate information for assessment of a population status. Information about the spatial and temporal distributions of different life stages of sea turtles is required for assessing population estimates. Available data from previous monitoring studies in the Mediterranean was mainly based on reproductive data from nesting beaches and bycatch data. However, this data does not address the need for a whole population assessment. Therefore, monitoring populations of both juvenile and adult turtles in the water is required. There are very few in-water studies in the Mediterranean addressing other lifestages and sex (immature, male turtles or females in foraging areas) rather than nesting females. Most information on the distribution and status of sea turtle populations in the Mediterranean was derived from onboard observations, bycatch data and from interviews with local fishermen (Casale et.al, 2011; IÁ de Quevedo, et.al., 2010; IÁ de Quevedo, et.al., 2013).

In-water studies provide information for population modelling and also allow the acquiring of valuable data for genetic, survival rate and adult sex ratio studies. In-water studies may target different sea turtle species and life stages and in different habitats. These studies are usually conducted by Capture-Mark-Recapture (CMR) method. There are number of different capture methodologies and an appropriate one should be decided before starting an in-water study. Local environmental conditions and life stages of the target species should be taking into consideration while choosing the capture method. It should be also concidered that in-water studies are time consuming and require long working hours in the field. In addition, it takes years to achieve sufficient information about a population by in-water studies and long-term planning is required.

The most commonly used visual method involved boat-based sightings. Sighting data are collected from a vessel by researchers who located sea turtles as they surfaced to breathe or who sighted sea turtles beneath the surface. The species and location were generally noted. Sightings may have been noted opportunistically while the boat was in transit or while researchers were conducting other activities. The preferred boat-based survey method, however, involved conducting standardized transects that used stationed observers. In this method for evaluating relative abundance, two observers were typically stationed atop a viewing platform located a couple of meters above the boat deck, with each observer scanning a different side of the boat for sea turtles. Another researcher will drive the boat in a transect which is recorded and used to measure effort. This effort is represented as a transect distance or, when an effective perpendicular sighting distance was measured, as transect area ([effective perpendicular sighting distance]\*[transect length]). The species, exact location, and time of each turtle that surfaced were recorded in order to calculate a catch (or sightings) per unit effort (CPUE; e.g., turtles/km). Methods similar to those used in boat-based transects were employed for both aerial- and dive-transect surveys. In the aerial surveys adapted in one of the projects, the observers were stationed inside an airplane rather than on a boat platform.

Dive surveys (two projects) involve two divers being towed underwater behind a boat where they noted sightings of sea turtles (Makowski et al. 2005). In both of these methods, researchers calculated relative abundance as turtles/km of transect length or as turtles/km2 of searched area. Capture methods varied greatly between projects and are based on the environmental conditions at the study area. We identified eight general techniques used to capture sea turtles, each with a different measure of effort. The specific parameters (e.g., net length, net depth, mesh size) for each of these techniques varied between projects. Due to the variations in the capture methods, CPUE units differed between them. This creates difficulties in the analyses using data pooled from all the projects.

#### 3. POPULATION ESTIMATION

A few studies on modelling sea turtle populations used at least some demographic values of the Mediterranean loggerhead population. Cambell & Lagueux (2005) Mazaris &Matsinos (2006) and Mazaris et al. (2005) explored the effect of various reproductive patterns upon population dynamics. They suggested a relatively high importance of fecundity and of early juveniles' survival Mazaris et al. (2009) suggested the greater importance of hatching and emergence success over the nesting success for the overall hatchling production. Casale and Heppell (2016) derived a theoretical demographic structure of the Mediterranean population, assuming a stationary age distribution, and provided a likely order of magnitude of population abundance as a whole and in different life stages.

Another approach for population estimation is developed by Wade 1998 referred to as the Potential Biological Removal (PBR). This approach was developed mainly for marine mammals and can be used for population abundance estimates. In addition to this approach, simple deterministic age-structured models can also be used (Barlow et al. 1995, Caswell et al. 1998, Heppell et al. 2005, Monk et al. 2011). These models are used when the age distribution is stable and recruitment is constant when combined with an estimate of adult population. However, for this approach and model, lack of information on the juvenile stages will causes problem. The PBR approach can be used when anthropogenic mortality does not exceed 50% of the potential maximum productivity rate of the population. Acoording to this approach, the studied population should recover if the anthropogenic mortality rate is lower then the PBR. However, differently from marine mammals, the size and demographic structure of sea turtle populations are unknown, and the numbers of nests or adult females are used as abundance indices which cause problems in application of PBR. Another approach was developed by Curtis & Moore (2013) for estimation of maximum bycatch which uses reproductive values depending on the number of individuals in a place.

To monitor the sea turtles and obtain the data, aerial or boat surveys, photo-identification, PIT tagging of flippers, Telemetry (satellite, GPS/GSM, radio telemetry) and loggers, capture-mark-recapture studies, Shipboard, aerial (including drone), or diver-based/video (potential),

Swimming/snorkelling surveys with photo-id and GPS in densely populated areas (e.g. certain breeding sites), CPUE (bycatch), Direct mortality rate, Post-release mortality rate, Nest counts, Photo-id of individuals, Time-Depth-Recorder tags and Beach strandings. These are the most commonly techniques used for estimating sea turtles populations.

## **3.1. Whole Population Abundance**

In-water monitorings were usually done by visual counting via small boat and/or aerial surveys on coastal regions. The Bycatch data from fishermen were also used in open waters. Stranding information during beach monitoring were also recorded in most of the Countries and this also used to prove the distribution patterns based on satellite telemetry studies. Most researchers used tagging via CMR, metal-plastic tags and photo-identification methods.

Satellite tracking, GPS/GSM tracking, radio tracking and the use of loggers such as TimeDepthRecorders also provide detailed information about the movements of small number of individuals within a population.

Aerial surveys are being used to study the abundance of turtles at sea. New technologies such as drones are promising for future monitoring studies. Few studies adapting aerial surveys in the Mediterranean are available (Cardona et al. 2005; Gómez de Segura et al. 2006; Lauriano et al. 2011). Aerial surveys require information about the time spent at surface to produce absolute estimates of turtle abundance.

## **3.2.** Population Size of Nesting Females

Although in-water studies are becoming more common, nesting females and their hatchlings remain the most accessible life stages. Findings in recent years show that it is essential to the conservation of sea turtles to know more about survival probabilities, breeding probabilities, and population size of nesting individuals (as well as population growth rates). In some cases adult females of a given nesting population are sufficiently philopatric that the population itself can be well defined. Nesting seasons are extensive, up to five months. Capture effort can take place throughout the season and occasionally during the night. Because sea turtles often lay more than one clutch, there is an opportunity to recapture a tagged female multiple times in a season. Because of females skipping nesting in that year, studies should be planned as an open population and be designed as primary and secondary seasons to overcome this issue.

Capture probabilities (p), recapture probabilities (c) and population size (N) can be estimated within primary sessions. The primary sessions are separated by longer time intervals (i.e. years). Also, the method has considered that the population is open, immigration, emigration, birth and death occurred between primary sessions. Thus, it also permits to the estimation of annual survival ( $\Phi$ ) as well as temporary emigration ( $\gamma$ ). Under the Pollock's robust design, primary sessions contain secondary sessions that are separated by a short time interval and it is assumed that the population is effectively closed (i.e., no births, deaths, immigration, or emigration).

#### **3.3.** Computer Program MARK to estimate the population

MARK program can be used for population estimation if data about population Capture-Mark and Recapture are available. This program also used successfully for reptiles, such as sea turtles and amphibians.

This program can be used to estimate sea turtles survival probabilities, breeding probabilities, and population size of nesting individuals (as well as population growth rate). Nesting seasons are extensive, up to five months and the Capture effort can take place throughout the season, in some cases during the night. Because sea turtles often lay more than one clutch, there is an opportunity to recapture a given female multiple times in a season. Individuals are mark with metal tags after laying their eggs. In summary, sampling for a given year consists of multiple sampling periods, where each individual in the nesting population has a chance (assumed to be the same chance) of being captured in each sampling interval. With a couple of additional assumptions, this constitutes a robust design. Hereafter, a description of the closed robust design will be given. The design assumes that, for the duration of capture effort within a primary period, one of the following is true:

(1) The population occupying the study area is completely closed to additions or deletions,

(2) Individuals movement is completely random in and out of the study area,

(3) All individuals were present in the first sampling occasion within a primary period, although marked and unmarked individuals could exit the study area (with the same probability) before the last sampling occasion for that season, or

(4) Individuals could enter the study area between the first and last sampling occasion within a season, assuming all individuals are present by the last sampling occasion.

An additional assumption for conditions 3 and 4 is that capture probability within a primary period varies only by time (not trap response or individual heterogeneity).

In the case of nesting sea turtles, the above assumptions do not hold. In fact, turtles arrive to lay their first clutch in a staggered fashion, remain in the area to re-nest for variable periods of time, then complete nesting and return to foraging areas in a similar manner. In essence, there is an open population study going on within each nesting season. First arrival at the nesting beach is equivalent to birth, and departure for the foraging grounds after the last clutch is laid is equivalent to death in a modelling sense.

If each individual in the population could be relied upon to be on the nesting beach each year, then the data for the entire nesting season could be pooled into whether or not an individual was captured in year *t*. However, some individuals skip nesting in a given year, and therefore the nesting population and population of female breeders in a given year are not equivalent. If nesting were a completely random process (i.e., each adult female had the same probability of nesting), then a Comarck Jolly Seber analysis (CJS) from pooled data would

produce an unbiased estimation for survival, although breeding probability could not be estimated. With most species, however, breeding probability is more accurately characterized as a Markov process (i.e., the probability of breeding is dependent on whether or not an individual is currently a breeder), and for some species skipping at least one year after breeding is obligatory. In this case, if skipping is not accounted for, all estimations in the CJS model, including survival, will be biased.

On the other hands, the Pollock's (1982) robust design can be used to estimate population size and parameters for Dalyan population. It allows the estimating of capture probabilities (p), recapture probabilities (c) and population size (N) within primary sessions that are separated by longer time intervals (i.e. years). Also, it considers the population is open, so immigration, emigration, birth and death occurred between primary sessions. Thus, it also permits the estimation of annual survival  $(\Phi)$  as well as temporary emigration  $(\gamma)$ . Under the Pollock's robust design, primary session contains secondary sessions that are separated by a short time intervals and it is assumed that the population is effectively closed (i.e., no births, deaths, immigration, or emigration).

Models will be designed and constructed to test this hypothesis which represents an alternate biologically hypothesis, assuming that the population size N(t) is year-specific and capture and recapture probabilities are equal in all eight models.

A few models are summarized as follows;

Model 1 and 2: Constant temporary emigration  $\gamma(\cdot)$ , constant and equal capture and recapture probabilities  $p(\cdot)=c(\cdot)$ . Survival rate is constant  $\Phi(\cdot)$  (Model 1) or year-specific  $\Phi(t)$  (Model 2). Our two models read as  $\Phi(\cdot) \gamma(\cdot) p(\cdot)=c(\cdot) N(t)$  and  $\Phi(t) \gamma(\cdot) p(\cdot)=c(\cdot) N(t)$  respectively.

Model 3 and 4: Temporary emigration was absent  $\gamma(\cdot)=0$ , constant and equal capture and recapture probabilities  $p(\cdot)=c(\cdot)$  and survival rate is constant  $\Phi(\cdot)$  (Model 3) or year-specific  $\Phi(t)$  (Model 4).

Model 5 and 6: Temporary emigration was constant)  $\gamma(\cdot)$ , capture and recapture probabilities are year-specific and equal  $p(t \cdot)=c(t \cdot)$  and survival rate is constant  $\Phi(\cdot)$  (Model 5) or year-specific  $\Phi(t)$  (Model 6).

Model 7 and 8: Temporary emigration is absent)  $\gamma(\cdot)=0$ , capture and recapture probabilities are year-specific and equal  $p(t \cdot)=c(t \cdot)$  and survival rate is constant  $\Phi(\cdot)$  (Model 7) or year-specific  $\Phi(t)$  (Model 8).

These models are examples to estimate population size and related parameters and they can be re-built after data collection.

These models will be fit to the data and parameters will be estimated using the program MARK v. 4.3 (White and Burnham, 1999; Cooch and White, 2001). Model selection will be based on Akaike's Information Criterion corrected for small sample size (Burnham et al.

2002). To provide further information regarding model selection, the mean Akaike weights w will be calculated for each model across all years and the relative importance of each parameter will be assessed by summing mean Akaike weights across all models.

## 4. INTEGRATING DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION WITH ABUNDANCE ESTIMATES

The abundance estimates are critical for assessing sea-turtle populations, demographic or vital-rate parameters are critical for understanding and predicting trends in sea-turtle populations. Although there are some available data, the critical vital rates have not been adequately determined for the entire Mediterranean for both species. The Regional Activity Centre for Special Protected Areas (SPA/RAC) should prepare the most important procedures to improve coordination in data collection and availability. The archieving of tissue samples and their usage in population estimates should be established as Mediterranean based research projects. The most serious demographic data gaps are to be addressed including in-water abundance, hatchling production, survival of immature turtles and nesting females, age at sexual maturity, breeding rates, and clutch frequency. The available informatin compiled in this report and the research priorities for the gaps are suggested in the following chapter

#### 5. **RESEARCH PRIORITIES**

Hamann et al (2010) reviewed the global research priorities for sea turtles: informing management and conservation stakeholders in the 21<sup>st</sup> century and identified 20 metaquestions classified under 5 categories: reproductive biology, biogeography, population ecology, threats and conservation strategies. More recently Rees et al. (2016) reviewed if researchers were working towards global research priorities for management and conservation of sea turtles. He found that there has been significant progress in all the key questions identified in 2010. During the 5th Mediterranean Conference on Sea turtles, 13 researchers have also identified the research priorities for the Mediterranean (Cardona et al. 2015). With the light of these three main studies, the main recommendations for the population studies in the Mediterranean are as following:

- Analysis of pressure/impact relationships for these sites and connectivity among the various sites in the Mediterranean.
- A manual to support the monitoring programme, which will provide more detailed information, tools, and advice on survey design, monitoring methodology and techniques that are most cost-effective and applicable to each of the sea turtle species. This will result in ensuring standardised monitoring procedures, comparable data sets, reliable estimates and trends. This will help to collect similar and comparable data among the Mediterranean countries.
- Databases and maps of known nesting, feeding, wintering habitats in each Contracting Party.

- Identification of the extent (area) baselines for each population/subpopulation and the habitats they dwell in.
- Identification of monitoring capacities and gaps in each Contracting Party.
- Identification of techniques to monitor and assess the impacts of climate change.
- Location of all breeding/nesting sites, all wintering, feeding, developmental sites of adult males, females and juveniles.
- Number of adults and juveniles frequenting wintering, feeding and developmental sites, along with how numbers vary across the season as individuals enter and leave different sites.
- Number of males and females frequenting all breeding/nesting sites each year (operational sex ratio), and the total number of individuals in the breeding populations.

Any minimal valid assessment of changes in species distribution (or distributional pattern) requires both spatially explicit reporting of animal abundances (coordinates of locations) and a measure of sampling effort. Locally, and when high quality data has compiled, it could be useful to try a density surface modelling approach.

## 5.1. Regional Molecular Projects

This should be established for both species. These projects should include the major nesting beaches and foraging grounds. A sample should be collected from every nest laid. Collected samples should be from 50 turtles of every species and from each major foraging ground. New generation sequencing markers should be used to 1) refine genetic structuring at nesting beaches and foraging grounds, 2) estimate remigration interval, 3) estimate clutch frequency through female fingerprinting and 4) resolve the contribution of nesting beaches to foraging grounds.

## 5.2. Beach Monitoring Projects

Beach monitoring projects should be established with the same methodology and collecting the information should be in the same format, i.e, the number unfertilized eggs, clutch information and hatching success in all countries.

## 5.3. Aerial Surveys and CMR Studies

This should be conducted in the main feeding and mating bays of every country.

## 5.4. Satellite Tracking Studies

Satellite tracking studies on the juvenile, adult male and female of both loggerhead and green turtles should be organised. Wild caught animals should be prioritized over rehabilitated ones.

## 5.5. A Regional Stable Isotope Project

Isotope analyses should be established for both species. A sample should be collected from every adult turtle that is satellite tracked and from every nest laid. Furthermore, samples should be collected from stranded and bycaught turtles at foraging grounds and also from potential prey.

## 5.6. National Stranding Networks

National stranding networks should be created in every Mediterranean country to collect data about turtle size and measurements. Samples (of at least skin) should be taken for stable isotopes and bone for skeletochronology. Stranding networks should be coordinated with rescue centres.

## 5.7. Regional Skeletochronology Project

This should be established for both species, with the aim to assess growth rate and age at first maturity. Analysis should be conducted independently for each foraging ground.

## 5.8. Regional Bycatch Projects

Bycatch projects should be established to update bycatch figures. Research on the post-release mortality of turtles' bycaught in bottom trawls and set nets should be included.

#### 6. LITERATURE CITED

- Álvarez de Quevedo, I., Cardona, L., De Haro, A., Pubill, E., and Aguilar, A. 2010. Sources of bycatch of loggerhead sea turtles in the western Mediterranean other than drifting longlines. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 67: 677–685.
- Álverez de Quevedo, I., SanFélix, M., Cardona, L. 2013. Mortality rates of by-caught loggerhead turtle *Caretta caretta* in the Mediterranean Sea and implications for Atlantic populations. Marine Ecology Progress Series 489: 225–234, 2013
- Aureggi M, Khalil M (2010) Lebanon. In: Casale P, Margaritoulis D (eds) Sea turtles in the mediterranean: Distribution, threats and conservation priorities. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland, p 149-155
- Avens L, Snover ML (2013) Age and age estimation in sea turtles. In: Wyneken J, Lohmann KJ, Musick JA (eds) The biology of sea turtles, Vol III. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, p 97–133.
- Backof TF. 2013. Tracking and Analysis of the Spatial and Thermal Habitats of Inter-Nesting Loggerheads (*Caretta caretta*) in Kyparissia Bay, Greece. MS Thesis, Purdue University USA
- Bagda E, Bardakci F, Turkozan O (2012) Lower genetic structuring in mitochondrial DNA than nuclear DNA among the nesting colonies of green turtles (*Chelonia mydas*) in the mediterranean. Biochem Syst Ecol 43:192-199
- Barlow J, Swartz SL, Eagle TC, Wade PR (1995) US marine mammals stock assessments: guidelines for preparation, background, and a summary of the 1995 assessments. US Dep Comm, NOAA Tech Memo, National Marine Fisheries Service, Office of Protected Resources 6:1–73.
- Bentivegna F (2002) Intra-Mediterranean migrations of loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) monitored by satellite telemetry. Marine Biology 141 795-800
- Bentivegna F, Ciampa M & Hochscheid S (2011): The Presence of the green turtle, *Chelonia mydas*, in Italian coastal waters during the last two decades. Marine Turtle Newsletter 131, 41-46.
- Bevan E, Wibbels T, Navarro E, Rosas M, Najera BMZ, Sarti L, Illescas F, Montaro J, Pena LJ, Burchfield P. 2016. Using Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) Technology for Locating, Identifying, and Monitoring Courtship and Mating Behavior in the Green Turtle (*Chelonia mydas*). Herpetological Review, 47(1), 27–32.
- Bowen BW, Bass AL, Chow S-M, Bostrom M, Bjorndal KA, Bolten AB, Okuyama T, Bolker BM, Epperly S, Lacasella E, Shaver D, Dodd M, Hopkins-Murphy SR, Musick JA, Swingle M, Rankin-Baransky K, Teas W, Witzell WN, Dutton PH (2004) Natal homing in juvenile loggerhead turtles (*Caretta caretta*). Mol Ecol 13:3797–3808
- Bradai MN, Jribi I (2010) Tunisia. In: Casale P, Margaritoulis D (eds) Sea turtles in the mediterranean: Distribution, threats and conservation priorities. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland, p 245-256
- Broderick AC, Coyne MS, Fuller WJ, Glen F, Godley BJ. 2007. Fidelity and overwintering of sea turtles. Proceedings of the Royal Society B 274:1533-1538.
- Broderick AC, Glen F, Godley BJ, Hays GC (2002) Estimating the number of green and loggerhead turtles nesting annually in the Mediterranean. Oryx 36: 227–235.
- Broderick AC, Glen F, Godley BJ, Hays GC (2003) Variation in reproductive output of marine turtles. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 288: 95-109
- Broderick AC, Godley BJ (1996) Population and nesting ecology of the green turtle, *Chelonia mydas*, and the loggerhead turtle, *Caretta caretta*, in northern cyprus. Zool Middle East 13:27-46
- Broderick AC, Godley BJ, Reece S, Downie JR (2000) Incubation periods and sex ratios of green turtles: Highly female biased hatchling production in the eastern mediterranean. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 202:273-281
- Burnham, Kenneth P. and David R. Anderson. 2002. Model Selection and Multimodel Inference: A Practical Information-Theoretical Approach. 2d ed. New York: SpringerVerlag.
- Campbell A, Clarke M, Simms C, Ghoneim S, Hameid WS, Edwards C (2001) On status and conservation of marine turtles along the egyptian mediterranean sea coast: Results of the darwin initiative sea turtle conservation project 1998-2000. Zool Middle East 24:19-29
- Campbell CL, Lagueux CJ (2005) Survival probability estimates for large juvenile and adult green turtles (*Chelonia mydas*) exposed to an artisanal marine turtle fishery in the western Caribbean. Herpetologica 61: 91–103

- Candan O, Kolankaya D (2016) Sex ratio of green turtle (*Chelonia mydas*) hatchlings at sugözü, turkey: Higher accuracy with pivotal incubation duration. Chelonian Conserv Biol 15:102-108
- Cardona L, Broderick AC, Camiñas JA, Casale P, Fuller WJ, Godley BJ, Hochscheid S, Kaska Y, Lazar B, Levy Y, Mafucci F, Miaud C, Mifsud C, Tomás J. (2015). Demography of marine turtles nesting in the Mediterranean Sea: a gap analysis and research priorities. Demography Working Group of the 5th Mediterranean Conference on Sea Turtles. 37pp. of A report submitted to Bern Convention, T-PVS/Inf (2015) 15.
- Cardona L, Clusa M, Eder E, Demetropoulos A, Margaritoulis D, Rees AF, Hamza AA, Khalil M, Levy Y, Türkozan O et al (2014) Distribution patterns and foraging ground productivity determine clutch size in Mediterranean loggerhead turtles. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 497:229–241
- Cardona L, Fernández G, Revelles M & Aguilar A (2012): Readaptation to the wild of rehabilitated loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) assessed by satellite telemetry Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 22, 104-112.
- Cardona L, Revelles M, Carreras C, San F,lix M, Gazo M, Aguilar A (2005) Western Mediterranean immature loggerhead turtles: habitat use in spring and summer assessed through satellite tracking and aerial surveys. Marine Biology 147, 583-591
- Cardona L, Revelles M, Parga ML, Tomás J, Aguilar A, Alegre F, Raga A, Ferrer X. (2009). Habitat use by loggerhead sea turtles *Caretta caretta* off the coast of eastern Spain results in a high vulnerability to neritic fishing gear. Marine Biology 156:2621–2630.
- Cardona et al., (2015) Demography Working Group of the Conference. Demography of marine turtles nesting in the Mediterranean Sea: a gap analysis and research priorities - 5th Mediterranean Conference on Marine Turtles, Dalaman, Turkey, 19-23 April 2015. Document T-PVS/Inf(2015)15E Presented at the Convention on the conservation of European wildlife and natural habitats - 35th meeting of the Standing Committee - Strasbourg, 1 - 4 December 2015 (2015)
- Carreras C, Pascual M, Cardona L, Aguilar Aand others (2007) The genetic structure of the loggerhead sea turtle (*Caretta caretta*) in the mediterranean as revealed by nuclear and mitochondrial DNA and its conservation implications. Conserv Genet 8:761-775
- Carreras C, Pascual M, Cardona L, Marco A and others (2011) Living together but remaining apart: Atlantic and Mediterranean loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in shared feeding grounds. J Hered 102: 666–677
- Carreras C, Pont S, Maffucci F, Pascual M, Barcelo A, Bentivegna F, Cardona L, Alegre F, SanFelix M, Fernandez G, Aguilar A (2006) Genetic structuring of immature loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in the Mediterranean Sea reflects water circulation patterns. Mar Biol 149:1269–1279
- Carreras C, Tomas J (2010) Spain. In: Casale P, Margaritoulis D (eds) Sea turtles in the mediterranean: Distribution, threats and conservation priorities. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland, p 205-232
- Carreras, C., Cardona, L., and Aguilar, A. 2004. Incidental catch of loggerhead turtles *Caretta caretta* off the Balearic Islands (western Mediterranean). Biological Conservation, 117: 321–329.
- Casale P & Margaritoulis D (2010) Sea Turtles in the Mediterranean: Distribution, threats and conservation priorities. IUCN/SSC Marine Turtle Specialist Group, Gland, Switzerland, p. 294.
- Casale P & Mariani P (2014) The first "lost year" of Mediterranean Sea turtles: dispersal patterns indicate subregional management units for conservation. Marine Ecology Progress Series 498, 263–274.
- Casale P, Abbate G, Freggi D, Conte N, Oliverio M, Argano R (2008) Foraging ecology of loggerhead sea turtles *Caretta caretta* in the central Mediterranean Sea: evidence for a relaxed life history model. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 372: 265–276
- Casale P, Affronte M, Insacco G, Freggi D, Vallini C, D'Astore PP, Basso R, Paolillo G, Abbate G & Argano R (2010): Sea turtle strandings reveal high anthropogenic mortality in Italian waters. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 20, 611-620.
- Casale P, Affronte M, Scaravelli D, Lazar B, Vallini C & Luschi P (2012a): Foraging grounds, movement patterns and habitat connectivity of juvenile loggerhead turtles (*Caretta caretta*) tracked from the Adriatic Sea. Marine Biology 159, 1527-1535.
- Casale P, Broderick AC, Freggi D, Mencacci R, Fuller WJ, Godley BJ, Luschi P. 2012b. Long-term residence of juvenile loggerhead turtles to foraging grounds: A potential conservation hotspot in the Mediterranean. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 22:144–154.
- Casale P, Conte N, Freggi D, Cioni C, Argano R (2011a) Age and growth determination by skeletochronology in loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) from the Mediterranean Sea. Sci Mar 75: 197–203
- Casale P, d'Astore PP, Argano R (2009b) Age at size and growth rates of early juvenile loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in the Mediterranean based on length frequency analysis. Herpetol J 19: 29–33
- Casale P, Freggi D, Basso R, Argano R (2005) Size at male maturity, sexing methods and adult sex ratio in loggerhead turtles (*Caretta caretta*) from italian waters investigated through tail measurements. Herpetolog J 15:145-148

Casale P, Freggi D, Basso R, Vallini C, Argano R (2007a) A model of area fidelity, nomadism, and distribution patterns of loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in the Mediterranean Sea. Mar Biol 152:1039–1049

- Casale P, Freggi D, Cina A, Rocco M (2013) Spatio-temporal distribution and migration of adult male loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in the Mediterranean Sea: further evidence of the importance of neritic habitats off North Africa. Mar Biol 160:703–718
- Casale P, Freggi D, Furii G, Vallini C and others (2015) Annual survival probabilities of juvenile loggerhead sea turtles indicate high anthropogenic impact on Mediterranean populations. Aquat Conserv 25: 551–561
- Casale P, Freggi D, Maffucci F, Hochscheid S (2014) Adult sex ratios of loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in two Mediterranean foraging grounds. Sci Mar 78: 303–309
- Casale P, Gerosa G, Argano R, Barbaro S, Fontana G (1998) Testosterone titers of immature loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) incidentally caught in the central mediterranean: A preliminary sex ratio study. Chelonian Conserv Biol 3:90-93
- Casale P, Gerosa G, Yerli SV (2000) Female-biased primary sex ratio of the green turtle, *Chelonia mydas*, estimated through sand temperatures at Akyatan, Turkey. Zool Middle East 20: 37–46
- Casale P, Heppell SS (2016) How much sea turtle bycatch is too much? A stationary age distribution model for simulating population abundance and potential biological removal in the mediterranean. Endang Species Res 29:239-254
- Casale P, Laurent L, Gerosa G, Argano R (2002) Molecular evidence of male-biased dispersal in loggerhead turtle juveniles. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 267:139-145
- Casale P, Lazar B, Pont S, Tomás J and others (2006) Sex ratios of juvenile loggerhead sea turtles *Caretta caretta* in the Mediterranean Sea. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 324: 281–285
- Casale P, Mazaris AD, Freggi D (2011b) Estimation of age at maturity of loggerhead sea turtles *Caretta caretta* in the mediterranean using length-frequency data. Endang Species Res 13:123-129
- Casale P, Mazaris AD, Freggi D, Basso R, Argano R (2007b) Survival probabilities of loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) estimated from capture-mark-recapture data in the Mediterranean Sea. Sci Mar 71: 365–372
- Casale P, Mazaris AD, Freggi D, Vallini C, Argano R (2009a) Growth rates and age at adult size of loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in the mediterranean sea, estimated through capture-mark-recapture records. Sci Mar 73:589-595.
- Casale P, Nicolosi P, Freggi D, Turchetto M, Argano R (2003) Leatherback turtles (*Dermochelys coriacea*) in Italy and in the Mediterranean basin. Herpetol J 13: 135–139
- Casale, P. 2011. Sea turtle bycatch in the Mediterranean. Fish and Fisheries, 12: 299-316.
- Caswell H, Brault S, Read AJ, Smith TD (1998) Harbor porpoise and fisheries: an uncertainty analysis of incidental mortality. Ecol Appl 8: 1226–1238
- Chaieb, O., El Ouaer, A., Maffucci, F., Bradai, M.N., Bentivegna, F., Said, K., Chatti, N. 2010. Genetic survey of loggerhead turtle *Caretta caretta* nesting population in Tunisia. Marine Biodiversity Records 3, e20 (6 pages)
- Chaloupka M, Limpus C (2005) Estimates of sex- and ageclass- specific survival probabilities for a southern Great Barrier Reef green sea turtle population. Mar Biol 146: 1251–1261
- Clusa M, Carreras C, Pascual M, Gaughran SJ, Piovano S, Giacoma C, Fernandez G, Levy Y, Tomas J, Rara JA, Maffucci F, Hochscheid Aguilar A, Cardona L (2014) Fine-scale distribution of juvenile Atlantic and Mediterranean loggerhead turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in the Mediterranean Sea. Mar Biol 161:509–519
- Clusa, M., Carreras, C., Pascual, M., Demetropoulos, A., Margaritoulis, D., Rees, A.F., Hamza, A.A., Khalil, M., Aureggi, M., Levy, Y., Türkozan, O., Marco, A., Aguilar, A., Cardona, L. 2013. Mitochondrial DNA reveals Pleistocenic colonisation of the Mediterranean by loggerhead turtles (*Caretta caretta*). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 439: 15–24
- Coles WC, Musick JA, Williamson LA (2001) Skeletochronology validation from an adult loggerhead (Caretta caretta). Copeia 2001:240–242
- Cooch E. & White G. 2016. Program MARK "A Gentle Introduction." 5th Ed. http://www.phidot.org/software/mark/docs/book/,
- Coyne MS, Godley BJ (2005) Satellite tracking and analysis tool (STAT): an integrated system for archiving, analyzing and mapping animal tracking data. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 127:1–7
- Curtis KA, Moore JE (2013) Calculating reference points for anthropogenic mortality of marine turtles. Aquat Conserv 23: 441-459
- Delgado C, Canario AVM, Dellinger T (2010) Sex ratios of loggerhead sea turtles *Caretta caretta* during the juvenile pelagic stage. Mar Biol 157:979-990

- Demetropoulos A, Hadjichristophorou M (2010) Cyprus region b. In: Casale P, Margaritoulis D (eds) Sea turtles in the mediterranean: Distribution, threats and conservation priorities. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland, p 53-64
- Domènech, F., Álvarez de Quevedo, I., Merchán, M., Revuelta, O., Vélez-Rubio, G., Bitón, S., Cardona, L., Tomás, J. 2014. Incidental catch of marine turtles by Spanish bottom trawlers in the western Mediterranean. Aquatic Conserv: Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. In press.
- Durmuş SH, Ilgaz Ç, Özdemir A, Yerli SV (2011) Nesting activity of loggerhead turtles (*Caretta caretta*) at göksu delta, turkey during 2004 and 2008 nesting seasons. Ecologia Balkanica 3
- Epperly, S.P., Braun, J., Chester, A.J., Cross, FA., Merriner, J.V., Tester, P.A., Churchill, J.H. 1996. each Strandings as an Indicator of At-Sea Mortality of Sea Turtles. Bulletin of Marine Science, 59: 289-297
- Ergene S, Aymak C, Uçar AH, Kaçar Y (2013) Kazanlı kumsalı'na (mersin) yuva yapan *Chelonia mydas* ve *Caretta caretta* populasyonlarının 2006 üreme sezonunda araştırılması. Ege Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 30
- Erzin T, Kıraç A, Kaska Y (2006) The spatial distribution of loggerhead sea turtle nests and their temperature and sex ratio variations on dalaman beach, turkey. In: Frick M, Panagopoulou A, Rees AF, Williams K (eds) 26th Annual Symposium on Sea Turtle Biology and Conservation, Athens
- Fuller WJ, Godley BJ, Hodgson DJ, Reece SE, Witt MJ, Broderick AC (2013) Importance of spatio-temporal data for predicting the effects of climate change on marine turtle sex ratios. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 488:267-274
- Garofalo L, Mingozzi T, Mico A, Novelletto A (2009) Loggerhead Turtle (*Caretta caretta*) matrilines in the Mediterranean: further evidence of genetic diversity and connectivity. Mar Biol 156:2085–2095
- Garofalo, L, Mastrogiacomo, A., Casale, P., Carlini, R., Eleni, C., Freggi, D. Gelli, D., Knittweis, L., Mifsud, C., Mingozzi, T., Novarini, N., Scaravelli, D., Cillitani, G., Oliverio, M., Novalletto, A. 2013. Genetic characterization of central Mediterranean stocks of the loggerhead turtle (*Caretta caretta*) using mitochondrial and nuclear markers, and conservation implications. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 23: 868-884.
- Giovannotti M, Franzellitti S, Cerioni PN, Fabbri E, Guccione S, Vallini C, Tinti F, Caputo V (2010) Genetic characterization of loggerhead turtle (*Caretta caretta*) individuals stranded and caught as bycatch from the North-Central Adriatic Sea. Amphibia-Reptilia 31:127–133
- Godley BJ, Broderick AC, Downie JR, Glen F and others (2001b) Thermal conditions in nests of loggerhead turtles: further evidence suggesting female skewed sex ratios of hatchling production in the Mediterranean. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 263: 45–63
- Godley BJ, Broderick AC, Mrosovsky N (2001a) Estimating hatchling sex ratios of loggerhead turtles in cyprus from incubation durations. Mar Ecol-Prog Ser 210:195-201
- Godley BJ, Richardson S, Broderick AC, Coyne MS, Glen F, Hays GC (2002) Long-term satellite telemetry of the movements and habitat utilisation by green turtles in the Mediterranean. Ecography 25:352–362
- Gómez de Segura A, Tomás J, Pedraza SN, Crespo EA, Raga JA (2006) Abundance and distribution of the endangered loggerhead turtle in Spanish Mediterranean waters and the conservation implications. Anim Conserv 9: 199-206
- Groombridge, B. 1990. Marine turtles in the Mediterranean: distribution, population status, conservation. A report to the Council of Europe, Environment and Management Division. Nature and Environment Series, Number 48. Strasbourg 1990
- Hamann M, Godfrey M, Seminoff J et al. (2010) Global research priorities for sea turtles: informing management and conservation in the 21st century. Endangered Species Research, 11, 245–269.
- Hart, K.M., Mooreside, P., Crowder, L.B. 2006. Interpreting the spatio-temporal patterns of sea turtle strandings: Going with the flow. Biological Conservation 129: 283–290
- Hays GC (2000) The implications of variable remigration intervals for the assessment of population size in marine turtles. J Theor Biol 206: 221–227
- Hays GC, Fossette S, Katselidis KA, Mariani P, Schofield G (2010a) Ontogenetic development of migration: lagrangian drift trajectories suggest a new paradigm for sea turtles. J R Soc Interface 7:1319–1327
- Hays GC, Fossette S, Katselidis KA, Mariani P, Schofield G, Gravenor MB (2010b) Breeding periodicity for male sea turtles, operational sex ratios, and implications in the face of climate change. Conserv Biol 24:1636–1643
- Hays GC, Webb PI, Hayes JP, Priede IG, French J. 1991. Satellite tracking of a loggerhead turtle (*Caretta caretta*) in the Mediterranean. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 71:743–746.
- Heppell SS, Crouse DT, Crowder LB, Epperly SP and others (2005) A population model to estimate recovery time, population size, and management impacts on Kemp's ridley sea turtles. Chelonian Conserv Biol 4: 767–773

- Heppell SS, Limpus CJ, Crouse DT, Frazer NB, Crowder LB (1996) Population model analysis for the loggerhead sea turtle, *Caretta caretta*, in Queensland. Wildl Res 23: 143–159
- Heppell SS, Snover ML, Crowder LB (2002) Sea turtle population ecology. In: Lutz PL, Musick JA, Wyneken J (eds) The biology of sea turtles, Vol II. CRC Marine Biology Series. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, p 275–306
- Heppell SS, Snover ML, Crowder LB (2003) Sea turtle population ecology. In: Lutz PL, Musick JA, Wyneken J (eds) The biology of sea turtles, vol II. CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp 275–306
- Hochscheid S, Bentivegna F, Hamza A & Hays GC (2010): When surfacers do not dive: multiple significance of extended surface times in marine turtles. Journal of Experimental Biology 213, 1328-1337.
- Ilgaz Ç, Türkozan O, Özdemir A, Kaska Y, Stachowitsch M (2007) Population decline of loggerhead turtles: two potential scenarios for Fethiye beach, Turkey. Biodivers Conserv 16: 1027–1037
- Jeffers VF, Godley BJ (2016) Satellite tracking in sea turtles: How do we find our way to the conservation dividends? Biol Conserv 199:172–184.
- Jribi I, & Bradai MN (2014) Sex ratio estimations of loggerhead sea turtle hatchlings at kuriat islands, Tunisia: Can minor nesting sites contribute to compensate globally female-biased sex ratio? Scientific World Journal 2014
- Jribi I, Hamza A, Saied A, Ouergui A (2013) Sex ratio estimations of loggerhead marine turtle hatchlings by incubation duration and nest temperature at sirte beaches (Libya). 77:617-624
- Kaska Y, Downie R, Tippett R, Furness RW (1998) Natural temperature regimes for loggerhead and green Turtle nests in the eastern Mediterranean. Can J Zool 76: 723–729
- Kaska Y, Ilgaz C, Ozdemir A, Baskale E, Turkozan O, Baran I, Stachowitsch M (2006) Sex ratio estimations of loggerhead sea turtle hatchlings by histological examination and nest temperatures at fethiye beach, turkey. Naturwissenschaften 93:338-343
- Kaska Y. (1993) Investigation of *Caretta caretta* population in patara and Kizilot, Vol. M.S. Thesis. Dokuz Eylul University, Izmir, Turkey.
- Kaska Y. (2000) Genetic structure of mediterranean sea turtle populations. Turk J Zool 24:191-197
- Kaska Y. Baskale E, Urhan R, Katilmis Y and others (2010) Natural and anthropogenic factors affecting the nest-site selection of loggerhead turtles, *Caretta caretta*, on dalaman-sarigerme beach in south-west turkey. Zool Middle East 50:47-58
- Kaska, Y., Başkale, E. Sözbilen, D. Sezgin, Ç. ve Candan, A.Y. (2015). Köyceğiz-Dalyan Özel Çevre Koruma Bölgesi, Dalyan (İztuzu) Kumsal Alanında Deniz Kaplumbağası (*Caretta caretta, Chelonia mydas*) ve Nil Kaplumbağası (*Trionyx triunguis*) Populasyonlarının Korunması ve İzlenmesi. 2011. T.C. Çevre ve Şehircilik Bakanlığı, Ankara
- Kasparek M, Godley BJ, Broderick AC. 2001. Nesting of the Green Turtle, *Chelonia mydas*, in the Mediterranean: a review of status and conservation needs. Zoology in the Middle East 24:45-74
- Katselidis KA, Schofield G, Stamou G, Dimopoulos P, Pantis JD (2012) Females first? Past, present and future variability in offspring sex ratio at a temperate sea turtle breeding area. Anim Conserv 15:508-518
- Kılıç Ç, Candan O (2014) Hatchling sex ratio, body weight and nest parameters for *Chelonia mydas* nesting on sugözü beaches (turkey). Anim Biodivers Conserv 37:177-182
- Klinger, R.C. and Musick, J. A. (1992) Annular growth layers in juvenile loggerhead sea turtles (Caretta caretta). Bull. Mar. Sci. 51:224–230
- LaCasella EL, Epperly SP, Jensen MP, Stokes L, Dutton PH (2013) Genetic stock composition of loggerhead turtles *Caretta caretta* bycaught in the pelagic waters of the North Atlantic. Endang Species Res 22:73–84.
- Laurent L, Casale P, Bradai MN, Godley BJ, Gerosa G, Broderick AC, Schroth W, Schierwater B, Levy AM, Freggi D, Abd El-Mawla EM, Hadoud DA, Gomati HE, Domingo M, Hadjichristophorou M, Kornaraky L, Demirayak F, Gautier C (1998) Molecular resolution of marine turtle stock composition in fishery bycatch: a case study in the Mediterranean. Mol Ecol 7:1529–1542
- Lauriano G, Panigada S, Casale P, Pierantonio N, Donovan GP (2011) Aerial survey abundance estimates of the loggerhead sea turtle *Caretta caretta* in the Pelagos Sanctuary, northwestern Mediterranean Sea. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 437: 291–302
- Lazar B, Formia A, Kocijan I, Ciofi C, Lacković G, Tvrtković N (2008) Population structure of loggerhead sea turtles, *Caretta caretta*, in the adriatic sea. In: Rees A, Frick M, Panagopoulou A, Williams K (eds) 27th International Symposium on Sea Turtle Biology and Conservation. NOAA Tech. Memorandum NMFS-SEFSC-569, p 129
- Limpus CJ (1990) Puberty and first breeding in *Caretta caretta*. In: Richardson TH, Richardson JI, Donnelly M (eds) Proc 10th Annu Workshop Sea Turtle Biology and Conservation. Tech Memo NMFS-SEFC-278. NOAA, Miami, FL, p 81–83

- Luschi P, Casale P. 2014. Movement patterns of marine turtles in the Mediterranean Sea: a review. Italian Journal of Zoology, 81(4), 478-495.
- Luschi P, Mencacci R, Vallini C, Ligas A, Lambardi P, Benvenuti S. 2013. Long-term tracking of adult loggerhead turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in the Mediterranean Sea. Journal of Herpetology 47:227–231.

Maffucci F, D'Angelo I, Hochscheid S, Ciampa Mand others (2013) Sex ratio of juvenile loggerhead turtles in the mediterranean sea: Is it really 1:1? Mar Biol 160:1097-1107

- Maffucci F, Kooistra WHCF, Bentivegna F (2006) Natal origin of loggerhead turtles, *Caretta caretta*, in the neritic habitat off the Italian coasts, Central Mediterranean. Biol Conserv 127:183–189.
- Makowski. C, R. P. Slattery, and M. Salmon. 2005. Shark fishing': A method for determining the abundance and distribution of sea turtles on reef habitats. Herpetol Rev, 36, 36-38.
- Margaritoulis D (1988) Nesting of the loggerhead sea turtles *Caretta caretta* on the shores of kiparissia bay, greece, in 1987. Mesogee 48:59-65.
- Margaritoulis D (1998) Interchange of nesting loggerheads among Greek beaches. In: Epperly S P, Braun J (eds) Proceedings of the 17th annual sea turtle symposium. NOAA Tech Memo. NMFS-SEFSC-415: 225-227
- Margaritoulis D (2005) Nesting activity and reproductive output of loggerhead sea turtles, *Caretta caretta*, over 19 seasons (1984–2002) at Laganas Bay, Zakynthos, Greece: the largest rookery in the Mediterranean. Chelonian Conserv Biol 4: 916–929
- Margaritoulis D, Argano R, Baran I, Bentivegna F, Bradai MN, Camiñas JA, Casale P, De Metrio G, Demetropoulos A, Gerosa G, Godley BJ, Haddoud DA, Houghton J, Laurent L, Lazar B, Bolten AB & Witherington BE (2003) Loggerhead turtles in the Mediterranean Sea: present knowledge and conservation perspectives. In Loggerhead Sea Turtles. Smithsonian Books, Washington, pp. 175-198.
- Margaritoulis D, Rees AF (2011) Loggerhead turtles nesting at Rethymno, Greece, prefer the Aegean Sea as their main foraging area. Mar Turtle Newslett 131:12–14
- Margaritoulis D, Rees AF, Dean CJ, Riggall T (2011) Reproductive data of loggerhead turtles in Laganas Bay, Zakynthos Island, Greece, 2003–2009. Mar Turtle Newsl 131: 2–6
- Mazaris AD, Fiksen O, Matsinos YG (2005) Using an individual-based model for assessment of sea turtle population viability. Popul Ecol 47:179-191
- Mazaris AD, Kornaraki E, Matsinos GY, Margaritoulis D (2004) Modeling the effect of sea surface temperature on sea turtle nesting activities by investigating seasonal trends. Nat Resour Model 17: 445–465
- Mazaris AD, Kramer-Schadt S, Tzanopoulos J, Johst K, Matsinos G, Pantis JD (2009) Assessing the relative importance of conservation measures applied on sea turtles: Comparison of measures focusing on nesting success and hatching recruitment success. Amphib Reptil 30:221-231
- Mazaris AD, Matsinos YG (2006) An individual based model of sea turtles: investigating the effect of temporal variability on population dynamics. Ecol Model 194: 114–124
- McClellan DB. 1996. Aerial surveys for sea turtles, marine mammals and vessel activity along the south east Florida coast 1992-1996. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-SEFSC-390 42pp
- Monk MH, Berkson J, Rivalan P (2011) Estimating demographic parameters for loggerhead sea turtles using mark-recapture data and a multistate model. Popul Ecol 53: 165–174
- Monzon-Arguello C, Rico C, Naro-Maciel E, Varo-Cruz N, Lopez P, Marco A, Lopez-Jurado LF (2010) Population structure and conservation implications for the loggerhead sea turtle of the cape verde islands. Conserv Genet 11:1871-1884
- Mrosovsky N, Kamel S, Rees AF, Margaritoulis D (2002) Pivotal temperature for loggerhead turtles (*Caretta caretta*) from kyparissia bay, greece. Can J Zool-Rev Can Zool 80:2118-2124
- Naro-Maciel E, Reid BN, Alter SE, Amato Gand others (2014) From refugia to rookeries: Phylogeography of atlantic green turtles. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 461:306-316
- National Research Council (2010) Assessment of sea-turtle status and trends: integrating demography and abundance. The National Academy Press, Washington, DC
- Novelletto A, Testa L, Iacovelli F, Blasi P, Garofalo L, Mingozzi T, Falconi M (2016) Polymorphism in mitochondrial coding regions of mediterranean loggerhead turtles: Evolutionary relevance and structural effects. Physiol Biochem Zool 89:473-486
- Olgun K, Bozkurt E, Ceylan S, Tural M, Özcan S, Karasüleymanoğlu KŞ, Geroğlu Y (2016) Nesting activity of sea turtles, *Caretta caretta* (linnaeus, 1758) and *Chelonia mydas* (linnaeus, 1758) (reptilia, cheloniidae), at patara beach (antalya, turkey) over four nesting seasons. Turk J Zool 40:215-222
- Oz M, Erdogan A, Kaska Y, Dusen Sand others (2004) Nest temperatures and sex-ratio estimates of loggerhead turtles at patara beach on the southwestern coast of turkey. Canadian Journal of Zoology 82:94-101
- Ozdemir A, Ilgaz C, Durmus SH, Guclu O (2011) The effect of the predicted air temperature change on incubation temperature, incubation duration, sex ratio and hatching success of loggerhead turtles. Anim Biol 61:369-383

- Özdemir A, Türkozan O, Güçlü Ö (2008) Embryonic mortality in loggerhead turtle (*Caretta caretta*) nests: a comparative study on Fethiye and Goksu Delta Beaches. Turk J Zool 32: 287–292
- Patel SH, Panagopoulou A, Morreale SJ, Kilham SSand others (2015) Differences in size and reproductive output of loggerhead turtles *Caretta caretta* nesting in the eastern mediterranean sea are linked to foraging site. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 535:231-241
- Patel SH, Panagopoulou A, Morreale SJ, Paladino FV, Margaritoulis D, Spotila JR. 2015. Post-reproductive migration of an adult male loggerhead from Crete revealed by satellite telemetry. In: Proceedings from the 32nd Annual International Sea Turtle Symposium.
- Patel SH. 2013. Movements, Behaviors and Threats to Loggerhead Turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in the Mediterranean Sea. PhD thesis Drexel University USA
- Piovano S, Clusa M, Carreras C, Giacoma C, Pascual M, Cardona L (2011) Different growth rates between loggerhead sea turtles (*Caretta caretta*) of Mediterranean and Atlantic origin in the Mediterranean Sea. Mar Biol 158: 2577–2587
- Pollock, K. H.1982. A capture–recapture design robust to unequal probability of capture. Journal of Wildlife Man agement 46:757–760.
- Rees AF., Alfaro-Shigueto, J., Barata P. C. R. et al., (2016). Are we working towards global research priorities for management and conservation of sea turtles. Endangered Species Research: 31: 337-382.
- Rees AF, Margaritoulis D (2004) Beach temperatures, incubation durations and estimated hatchling sex ratio for loggerhead sea turtle nests in southern Kyparissia bay, Greece. Testudo 6: 23–36
- Rees AF, Margaritoulis D, Newman R, Riggall TE, Tsaros P, Zbinden JA, Godley BJ (2013) Ecology of loggerhead marine turtles *Caretta caretta* in a neritic foraging habitat: movements, sex ratios and growth rates. Mar Biol 160: 519–529
- Rees, AF., Carreras, C., Broderick, A.C., Margaritoulis, D., Stringell, T.B., Godley, B.J. (2017). Linking loggerhead locations: using multiple methods to determine the origin of sea turtles in feeding grounds. Mar Biol 164: 30.
- Revuelta, O., Carreras, C., Domènech, F., Gozalbes, P. and Tomás, J. (2015). First report of an olive ridley (Lepidochelys olivacea) in the Mediterranean Sea. Mediterranean Marine Science. 16/2, 346-351
- Saied A, Maffucci F, Hochscheid S, Dryag S, Swayeb B, Borra M, Ouerghi A, Procaccini Bentivegna F (2012) Loggerhead turtles nesting in Libya: an important management unit for the Mediterranean stock. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 450:207–218
- Sari F, Kaska Y (2015) Loggerhead sea turtle hatchling sex ratio differences between two nesting beaches in turkey. Israel Journal of Ecology and Evolution 61:115-129
- Sari, F., Koseler, A., Kaska, Y. (2017). First observation of multiple paternity in loggerhead sea turtles, *Caretta caretta*, nesting on Dalyan Beach, Turkey. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 488 (2017) 60–71.
- Schofield G, Dimadi A, Fossette S, Katselidis KA, Koutsoubas D, Lilley MKS, Luckman A, Pantis JD, Karagouni AD, Hays GC. 2013. Satellite tracking large numbers of individuals to infer population level dispersal and core areas for the protection of an endangered species. Diversity and Distributions 19:834–844.
- Scott, R., Marsh, R., Hays, G.C. 2012. Life in the really slow lane: loggerhead sea turtles mature late relative to other reptiles. Functional Ecology 2012, 26, 227–235
- Shamblin BM, Bolten AB, Abreu-Grobois FA, Bjorndal KA, Cardona L, Carrera C, Clusa C, Manzon-Arguello C, Nairn CJ, Nielsen JT, Nel R, Soares LS, Stewart KR, Vilaca ST, Türkozan O, Yilmaz C, Dutton PH (2014) Geographic patterns of genetic variation in a broadly distributed marine vertebrate: new insights into loggerhead turtle stock structure from expanded mitochondrial DNA sequences. PLoS One 9:e85956
- Snape RTE, Broderick AC, Cicek BA, Fuller WJ, Glen F, Stokes K, Godley BJ (2016) Shelf life: neritic habitat use of a turtle population highly threatened by fisheries. Divers Distrib 22:797.
- Snover ML, Hohn AA (2004) Validation and interpretation of annual skeletal marks in loggerhead (*Caretta caretta*) and Kemp's ridley (*Lepidochelys kempii*) sea turtles. Fish Bull 102:682-692
- Solow AR, Bjorndal KA, Bolten AB (2002) Annual variation in nesting numbers of marine turtles: the effect of sea surface temperature on re-migration intervals. Ecol Lett 5: 742–746
- Sonmez B, Turan C, Ozdilek SY (2013) Comparison of the physical properties of two green turtle (*Chelonia mydas*) nesting beaches (akyatan and samandag) in the eastern mediterranean (reptilia: Cheloniidae). Zool Middle East 59:30-38
- Stokes, KL, Broderick AC, Canbolat AF, Candan O, Fuller WJ, Glen F, Godley BJ. (2015) Migratory corridors and foraging hotspots: critical habitats identified for Mediterranean green turtles. Diversity and Distributions online early.

- Taskin N, Baran I (2001) Reproductive ecology of the loggerhead turtle, *Caretta caretta*, at patara, turkey. Zool Middle East 24:91-100
- Tikochinski, Y., Bendelac, R., Barash, A., Daya, A., Levy, Y., Friedmann, A. 2012. Mitochondrial DNA STR analysis as a tool for studying the green sea turtle (*Chelonia mydas*) populations: The Mediterranean Sea case study. Marine Genomics 6: 17–24
- Tomás J, Gozalbes P, Raga JA, Godley BJ (2008) Bycatch of loggerhead sea turtles: insights from 14 years of stranding data. Endang Species Res 5: 161–169
- Tomas J, Mons JL, Martin JJ, Bellido JJ, Castillo JJ (2002) Study of the first reported nest of loggerhead sea turtle, *Caretta caretta*, in the spanish mediterranean coast. J Mar Biol Assoc UK 82:1005-1007
- Turkecan O, Yerli SV. 2011. Satellite tracking of adult green sea turtles from Turkey: A long distance diary. Marine Turtle Newsletter, 131, 38-41.
- Turkozan O (2000) Reproductive ecology of the loggerhead turtle, *Caretta caretta*, on fethiye and kizilot beaches, turkey. Chelonian Conservation and Biology 3(4), p 686-692.
- Turkozan O, Kaska, K. 2010. Turkey In: Sea turtles in the Mediterranean: Distribution, threats and conservation priorities. Casale, P. & Margaritoulis, D. (Eds.). Gland, Switzerland: IUCN. 285-293 pp.
- Turkozan O, Taskavak E, Ilgaz C (2003) A review of the biology of the loggerhead turtle, *Caretta caretta*, at five major nesting beaches on the south-western mediterranean coast of turkey. Herpetolog J 13:27-33
- Turkozan O, Yamamoto K, Yilmaz C (2011) Nest site preference and hatching success of green (Chelonia mydas) and loggerhead (Caretta caretta) sea turtles at Akyatan beach, turkey. Chelonian Conserv Biol 10:270-275
- Turkozan O, Yilmaz C (2008) Loggerhead turtles, *Caretta caretta*, at dalyan beach, turkey: Nesting activity (2004-2005) and 19-year abundance trend (1987-2005). Chelonian Conserv Biol 7:178-187
- Uçar A, Kaska Y, Ergene S, Aymak C, Kaçar Y, Kaska A, I'li P (2012) Sex ratio estimation of the most eastern main loggerhead sea turtles nesting site: Anamur Beach, Mersin, Turkey. Isr J Ecol Evol 58:87–100
- Ullmann, J & Stachowitsch, M. (2015) A critical review of the Mediterranean Sea turtle rescue network: a web looking for a weaver. Nature Conservation 10: 45–69.
- Van Houtan K.S., Hargrove S, Balazs G.H. (2014) Modeling sea turtle age at first breeding frompartial capture histories. Pacific Science. 68(4):465-477.
- Wade PR (1998) Calculating limits to the allowable humancaused mortality of cetaceans and pinnipeds. Mar Mamm Sci 14: 1-37
- Wallace BP, DiMatteo AD, Bolten AB, Chaloupka MY and others (2011) Global conservation priorities for marine turtles. PLoS ONE 6: e24510
- Wallace BP, DiMatteo AD, Hurley BJ, Finkbeiner EM, Bolten AB et al (2010) Regional management units for marine turtles: a novel framework for prioritizing conservation and research across multiple scales. PLoS One 5: e15465.
- White G.C. & Burnham K.P. 1999. Program MARK: Survival estimation from populations of marked animals. Bird Study 46 Supplement: 120-138.
- Wibbels T (2003) Critical approaches to sex determination in sea turtles. In: Lutz PL, Musick JA, Wyneken J (eds) The biology of sea turtles volume ii. CRC Marine Biology Series, CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, London, New York, Washington D.C., p 103-134
- Wright LI, Fuller WJ, Godley BJ, McGowan A, Tregenza TOM, Broderick AC (2012a) Reconstruction of paternal genotypes over multiple breeding seasons reveals male green turtles do not breed annually. Mol Ecol 21:3625-3635
- Wright LI, Stokes KL, Fuller WJ, Godley BJ, McGowan A, Snape R, Tregenza T, Broderick AC (2012b). Turtle mating patterns buffer against disruptive effects of climate change. Proceedings of the Royal Society B 279:2122-2127
- Yalçin Özdilek Ş, Sönmez B, Kaska Y (2016) Sex ratio estimations of *Chelonia mydas* hatchlings at samandağ beach, Turkey. Turk J Zool 40:552-560
- Yalcin-Ozdilek S, Yerli SV (2006) Green turtle (*Chelonia mydas*) nesting and habitat threats at samandag beach, turkey. Chelonian Conserv Biol 5:302-305
- Yılmaz C, Oruç A, Türkozan O (2015) Marine turtles (*Chelonia mydas* and *Caretta caretta*) nesting along the eastern mediterranean coast of turkey: Results from six years of surveying. The Herpetological Journal 25:197-204
- Yilmaz C, Turkozan O, Bardakci F (2011) Genetic structure of loggerhead turtle (*Caretta caretta*) populations in turkey. Biochem Syst Ecol 39:266-276
- Yilmaz C, Türkozan O, Bardakci F, White M, Kararaj E (2012) Loggerhead turtles (*Caretta caretta*) foraging at Drini Bay in Northern Albania: Genetic characterisation reveals new haplotypes. Acta Herpetol 7:155– 162

- Zbinden JA, Bearhop S, Bradshaw P, Gill B, Margaritoulis D, Newton J, Godley BJ. 2011. Migratory dichotomy and associated phenotypic variation in marine turtles revealed by satellite tracking and stable isotope analysis. Marine Ecology Progress Series 421:291–302.
- Zbinden JA, Davy C, Margaritoulis D, Arlettaz R (2007) Large spatial variation and female bias in the estimated sex ratio of loggerhead sea turtle hatchlings of a Mediterranean rookery. Endang Species Res 3: 305-312